ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

EWARD E. SHELNUT

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-02157

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES **APPELLEE**

APPELLANT'S BRIEF TO COURT

PATRICIA PETERSON SMITH

Attorney at Law

P. O. Box 589

Vicksburg, MS 39181

MBN:

Telephone 601-634-1802

Facsimile 601-634-1596

Email: ppsmith@prodigy.net

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

EWARD E. SHELNUT

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-02157

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES **APPELLEE**

APPELLANT'S BRIEF TO COURT

PATRICIA PETERSON SMITH

Attorney at Law P. O. Box 589

Vicksburg, MS 39181

MBN:

Telephone 601-634-1802

Facsimile 601-634-1596

Email: ppsmith@prodigy.net

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal involves several matters of law and equity regarding an attempt to register and enforce a foreign judgment for child support, but most importantly, the trial court's failure to adhere to or recognize fundamental due process protections afforded a Defendant in any legal proceeding under our state laws and Constitution and the Constitution of the United States. This appeal also addresses the calculation of a statue of limitations claim, ability of a receiving trial court to arbitrarily extend the age of emancipation for child support purposes, and the trial court's authority to allow an amendment to a pleading in violation of the rules. During this lengthy litigation, all the attorneys and chancellor have changed. The history of this action was lost in the change of the sitting Chancellor in this instant litigation.

The laws of Mississippi and the Canadian Divorce Act are the controlling laws.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY OF THIS CASE

- Gaye Lynn took their daughter, Margaret Anne and left the state of Mississippi in April of 1989 without notice to Ed or his attorney, in the midst of a irreconcilable differences divorce action and moved to Canada. (T at 41-42).
- 2. Five days after Gaye Lynn absconded with their child, Ed filed a custody action and Gaye Lynn was served with process at her parent's home by certified mail sent May 8, 1989.
- On October 17, 1989, in her first Canadian action, Gaye Lynn filed for custody and support.
 The Cause number for that case was U.F.C. 1033 of A.D. 1989. (Exhibit 10-11)

- 4. On November 22, 1989, Ed responded with an answer to the Canadian pleadings contesting personal jurisdiction and contesting the issues of custody and child support. (Exhibit 5). (This issue of personal jurisdiction was the subject of the previous appeal in this case when the appeals court used the facts of proceedings in the first action to determine personal jurisdiction. However, the judgment being contested in the trial court was actually from the second action.)
- The record shows that Ed was properly noticed for a temporary hearing set on November 10, 1989. A Canadian *temporary* order was entered on December 4, 1989 (Exhibit 5). The temporary maintenance order required Ed to pay \$300.00 per month child support but failed to provide visitation. Another child support order was entered on January 19, 1990, which ordered Ed to pay \$325.00 per month. There is no evidence Ed was served with notice of any a final proceeding in the first case, especially any hearing which led to the second child support order.
- 6. There were no other known proceedings in Cause No. U.F.C. 1033 of A.D. 1989.
- 7. On May 9, 1990, Gaye Lynn filed her second action, a petition numbered U.F.C. 456 of A.D. 1990, requesting divorce, custody and support (Exhibit 6).
- 8. Gaye Lynn obtained a divorce under the second action on June 28, 1990, in Canada (Exhibit 18). The Judgment shows the judge in that case was Madam M.Y. Carter; however, the Judgment is not signed by her, but by Diane L. Barber, Local Registrar. The judgment states it was entered without any hearing to contest any issues in controversy and that neither the parties nor their attorneys were present. There was no evidence presented in this litigation showing that:
 - a. There was actual service of process on Ed in the second action;
 - b. Ed answered the second complaint; or

- c. Ed had knowledge or opportunity to be heard at any hearing on the merits in the second action.
- 9. The actions on file in Mississippi (Complaint for Custody and Complaint for Divorce) were consolidated and dismissed when the Hinds County Chancery Court entered an Order on January 8, 1991, which merely acknowledged the Canadian Court had jurisdiction to grant a divorce and that no useful purpose would be served in pursuing another divorce in Mississippi.
- 10. A letter from Ed's attorney to Ed, dated January 23, 1991 (Exhibit 13), acknowledged that the trial Court stated to the attorneys that the judge would not enter any order enforcing a child support decree from Canada unless Gaye Lynn subjected herself to the jurisdiction of his court. The Court entered an Order stating that the issues of the validity and enforceability of the Canadian divorce decree were deferred to a later time until the issue of Canada's personal jurisdiction over Ed was settled. There is no evidence that anyone realized during that time there were actually two separate and distinct Canadian actions which Gaye Lynn and the Department of Human Services were representing to the trial court (and eventually the appeals court) as being one action.
- 11. Eight years later, on January 25, 1999, Gaye Lynn, through the Mississippi Department of Human Services, attempted to register the Canadian judgment for enforcement.
- 12. On July 8, 1999, the Chancery Court of Hinds County entered an order that only the issue of the divorce had been settled and the issues of enforceability of the child support would be deferred until such time as the issue of Canada's personal jurisdiction over Ed was settled. That order was not appealed.
- 13. On August 10, 1999, the Chancery Court entered an order dismissing the attempt to enforce the foreign judgment as it regarded child support citing Canada's lack of personal jurisdiction over Ed. This Order was appealed to the Supreme Court of Mississippi. It is clear from a

- reading of the ruling, that the appeals court did not realize there were actually two actions. The facts the Supreme Court used to find personal jurisdiction over Ed in the second action were actually those facts which occurred in the first action.
- 14. On December 14, 2000, the Supreme Court of Mississippi reversed the August 10, 1999, order and remanded it for further proceedings on the validity and enforceability of the Canadian decree, finding that Canada had personal jurisdiction over Ed to grant a divorce. The Supreme Court further found that Ed had a right to litigate the issue of child support enforcement of the Canadian decree.
- On May 18, 2001, the hearing on the remand from the Supreme Court was held and then recessed when the air conditioning malfunctioned. The attorney for the Department of Human Services promised the court that he would reschedule the hearing "expeditiously". That hearing was never rescheduled or finished.
- 16. Over two years later, on September 16, 2003, Ed filed a Motion to Dismiss for want of prosecution, since the Department of Human Services failed to reset the hearing for over two years. When the Department of Human Services failed to answer within 30 days, a judgment of dismissal was entered.
- 17. On November 14, 2003, two months after the final judgment of dismissal was entered, the Department of Human Services filed a Motion to Set Aside the Judgment of Dismissal order.
- 18. On March 29, 2005, almost another two years later, a hearing was held and an Order Setting Aside the Judgment of Dismissal was entered.
- 19. There was still no other activity in this matter until September 26, 2005, when the Department of Human Services filed another Notice of Registration Amended. It was contested by Ed with an answer on October 14, 2005.
- 20. A hearing was set for May 1, 2007; however, it was continued when the court found that it could not be heard in the time allotted.

- 21. Ed filed a Motion to Dismiss on May 2, 2007, citing among other reasons the failure to join Margaret Anne as a party.
- 22. A hearing was held on September 27, 2007, on the Notice of Registration Amended and Ed's contest of the Registration. The court ruled at the beginning of the hearing that for purposes of the hearing, it would be entered as a new hearing for all purposes, and the court would not consider anything not entered in the record that day (T At 4). At the conclusion of the hearing, the court ruled from the bench that the order would be enrolled; however, he would give the attorneys for the parties 30 days in which to file briefs addressing the issues to be considered in his findings of fact and conclusions of law.
- 23. On November 6, 2007, the trial court entered a Memorandum Opinion of the court.
- 24. On November 16, 2007, Ed filed a Motion for Reconsideration or for a New Trial.
- 25. On November 19, 2007, the trial court entered an Amendment to Memorandum Opinion of the court which changed the trial court's determination of the age of emancipation for the child for child support purposes.
- 26. On November 28, 2007, Ed filed a Notice of Appeal.

FACTS OF THE CASE

Ed Shelnut and Gaye Lynn Kern were married on June 20, 1981, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan. Ed is very hard of hearing. He teaches at the Mississippi state school for the Blind. Gaye Lynn is self employed.

Gaye Lynn left the state of Mississippi with Margaret Anne, the couple's only child, in March or April, 1989, without notice to Ed or his attorney, in the midst of an irreconcilable differences divorce action with negotiation already begun here. Testimony of the witnesses shows that Gaye Lynn's family came to Mississippi approximately 3-4 weeks before Gaye Lynn's flight and assisted her with moving preparations (T. at 38). About the time of their arrival, Gaye Lynn requested that Ed meet her at their counselor's office where she requested he temporarily move out of the marital

home. The record is clear that Ed did not know of the moving preparations until the day he went to the house and found it packed up (T. at 132). Gave Lynn left later that night.

For approximately six months prior to the separation, the couple attended counseling with their priest and Ed believed the marriage and counseling were going very well. Ed and other witnesses testified that Ed moved out of the marital home at Gaye Lynn's request so she could reflect upon the marriage (T. at 37). Uncontroverted testimony was that while Gaye Lynn was telling Ed she wanted him out of the house, her family was placing Ed's clothing in his vehicle in the church parking lot (T. at 120). Both parties testified that Gaye Lynn's parents came from Canada just prior to Gaye Lynn's request for Ed to temporarily move out of the house; and, that within 3-4 weeks, the house was packed up and Gaye Lynn moved to Canada (T. at 36-37).

Gaye Lynn testified that Ed could have visitation with his child whenever he wanted, but that he never asked. Gaye Lynn further testified that she wanted Ed to have supervised visitation with Margaret Anne. She gave no reason for her refusal to allow Ed unrestricted visitation (T. at 35-36). Ed's testimony and that of the other witnesses was consistent that Gaye Lynn refused to allow Ed any visitation with Margaret Anne during the separation. Sometimes Ed took his grandfather with him to try to see Margaret Anne. Ed did not get to see his daughter except when his stepfather picked up Margaret Anne and took her to Ed's grandmother's house.

Ed testified that Gaye Lynn changed the telephone number at the marital home to an unlisted number when he called attempting to see Margaret Anne. Since the telephone was in his name and he could not know the number, Ed had the telephone disconnected (T. at 37, 69).

Further uncontroverted testimony was that Ed went to the house about 3-4 weeks after the separation to see what was going on. He found the entire house packed up for moving and the front door locks changed by Gaye Lynn; Ed removed the front door lock. Until he found the house packed up, Ed had paid all bills for the family. Ed testified that after finding the house packed up, he realized the marriage was over. Ed testified that he told Gaye Lynn he would have the utilities cut off if Gaye

Lynn did not allow him to see Margaret Anne (T. at 132-134). Gaye Lynn testified that she left because Ed *planned* to have the electricity cut off (T. at 39). There was no evidence or testimony presented during the hearing that Ed intended to disconnect the utilities until he saw Gaye Lynn packed and ready to leave. Both parties testified that:

- 1) Gaye Lynn moved out immediately afterward;
- 2) The electricity was not cut off at the time Gaye Lynn left (T. at 39) and Ed testified that he moved back in the house for a while after Gaye Lynn left (T. at 113);
- 3) Gaye Lynn moved out of the house later that same Friday night without telling Ed she was leaving or where she was going (T. at 42).

After Gaye Lynn moved to Canada, she allowed some telephone visitation between Ed and Margaret Ann only for a few alternating Saturdays after the divorce, but then the calls stopped (T. at 43). Ed testified that Gaye Lynn would not get Margaret Anne to the telephone (T. at 122). Gaye Lynn testified that the calls "just stopped".

Ed testified that he did not go to Canada because he could not afford to do so, and that Gaye Lynn threatened to have him jailed if he traveled to Canada to see Margaret Anne (T. at 123). Ed testified that he had already been falsely accused of all types of violent acts. Based on Gaye Lynn's past behavior, Ed believed her threats were serious. He further testified that he had no funds or friends to help him if he were arrested in Canada. Gaye Lynn denied the threats.

Depositions of Joel Gill, Velma Webb and Max Harrison were admitted by stipulation for the Court's consideration in this matter. Max, Velma, Gaye Lynn and Ed all testified regarding an event in June, 1999, where Gaye Lynn came to Mississippi and went to see Velma with Margaret Anne and "someone else." Gaye Lynn testified that Margaret Anne insisted on going to see "Momma" before she died (T. at 51). Gaye Lynn testified that she got Ed's father to pay for the plane tickets and that she visited with Ed's father and step-mother in Senatobia (T. at 53). Gaye Lynn testified that

she and Margaret Anne were in Jackson, Mississippi, for approximately five days and went to visit "Momma" and spent one afternoon there.

Gaye Lynn admitted that she had notified Ed's sister she was coming, but no one else. She further admitted that she was told by the sister no one wanted to see her because of a rift in the family (T. at 53). Ed and other witnesses testified that at the time of Gaye Lynn's visit, his step-father was in the hospital and that neither Velma ("Momma") nor Ed knew of the impending visit; had he known, he would have begged to see Margaret Anne. None of the witnesses confirmed Gaye Lynn's testimony that there was any rift in the family. Gaye Lynn testified that she never contacted Ed to tell him she and Margaret Anne were coming to Mississippi; she further testified she did not tell anyone she wanted Margaret Anne to see Ed during the trip (T. at 51).

Ed, Max and Velma all testified that they did not know Gaye Lynn was coming to Mississippi. Max and Velma testified that as Max was delivering muffins to Velma's house, a woman drove up and went to the door (Dep. MH at 6, Dep. VW at 7-8). Velma answered, not recognizing Gaye Lynn (Dep. VW at 7). Max testified that Gaye Lynn's appearance had changed a lot over the years (Dep. MH at 7). Gaye Lynn asked if Ed was there; when she found out he wasn't, she said it was "ok to go inside" (Dep. MH at 7, Dep. VW at 8). Gaye Lynn then took Margaret Anne into the house to visit Velma (Dep. VW at 8). During the time the two were visiting, Gaye Lynn went all through the house investigating (Dep. MH at 7, Dep. VW at 8), then told Velma they had to catch a plane (Dep. MH at 8-9, Dep. VW at 8). Max and Velma testified that the visit was less than 30 minutes (Dep. VW at 9), if that long. Max testified that the visit lasted maybe 10 minutes (Dep. MH at 7); that he tried to talk to Gaye Lynn but she wouldn't talk with him (Dep. MH at 8). Ed testified that he knew nothing of the visit until he returned from work that day. Velma further testified that during the separation, Gaye Lynn refused to let her or Ed see Margaret Anne (Dep. VW at 4, 5, 6) and that she was the one who told Ed his telephone number had been changed (Dep. VW at 10).

The uncontroverted testimony of Joel Gill, was that he was friends of both Gaye Lynn and Ed. Joel stated that during the time before Gaye Lynn left, he would act as a liaison between the two and that Gaye Lynn would not allow Ed any contact with Margaret Anne (Dep. JG at 4). Even after the separation, Joel would try to get Gaye Lynn to allow Ed visitation and she was unresponsive (Dep JG at 5). Joel even offered her cash if she would allow the visitation; she refused (Dep. JG at 5). After Gaye Lynn moved to Canada, he attempted to keep the channel of communication open and even bought Gaye Lynn a ticket to go to Las Vegas with him and his wife in 1991 (Dep. JG at 6, 8). When Joel broached the matter of Ed obtaining some visitation, Gaye Lynn told him she would not discuss it and that Ed was to have nothing to do with Margaret Anne (Dep. JG at 6-7). Joel testified that Gaye Lynn was "unusual"; she claimed to be super sensitive to various things; she liked to be the center of attention (Dep. JG at 7-8); that Gaye Lynn never asked him to help get child support or "anything else" from Ed (Dep JG at 8-9).

Frank Inman, Ed's step-father, testified that though he was not "blood kin" to Margaret Anne, he had a close relationship with both Ed and Margaret Anne (T. at 81) and wanted to continue it after the divorce. He testified that he and his wife often babysat with Margaret Anne before the separation (T. at 82). Frank also testified that during the separation, though he could see Margaret Anne without restriction, Gaye Lynn made it clear Ed was not to see Margaret Anne (T. at 82-83). Frank was the one who found that Gaye Lynn and Margaret Anne had moved that Saturday morning when he went to take the child to the zoo. The neighbor told him that they left during the night (T. at 82-84).

Frank testified that in order for him and his wife, Jean, to maintain a relationship "of sorts" with Margaret Anne, they went to Canada during the 1991 Christmas season (T. at 84); that they made at least two other trips to see Margaret Anne. Frank attempted to encourage Gaye Lynn to allow Ed to have a relationship with Margaret Anne (T. at 85-86). Frank offered to pay for Margaret Anne to come to Mississippi to visit, but that Gaye Lynn never accepted the offer (T. at

86). During various visits with Margaret Anne in Canada, the rendezvous always occurred at Gaye Lynn's parents' home. For a significant period Frank sent \$100.00 each month to Margaret Anne, but sent the funds to the Kerns' home (T. at 87).

Frank testified that Ed was very interested in Margaret Anne's condition and status (T. at 88). Frank visited Margaret Anne when she was about 4 or 5 years old, she asked the Inmans, "Is my mean old daddy still sick in the head?" He testified that he had never known Ed to be mean or violent (T. at 88-89, 91).

Frank had never known Gaye Lynn to hold back her opinion and if Ed had been abusive to her, she definitely would have said so, and Frank would have done something about it (T. at 93). Ed testified he had never been abusive or violent toward Gaye Lynn or Margaret Anne, and that if he had been, Gaye Lynn would have had him put in jail; that she would have contacted Ed's stepfather or grandfather because they would not have condoned it.

Frank believed Ed attempted to maintain a relationship with Margaret Anne after the move to Canada; that no one told Gaye Lynn they didn't want to see her during the trip in 1999; that Ed's sister may have told Gaye Lynn because of Frank's prostate surgery, it might not be a good time to visit (T. at 95). No one in the family ever refused to provide contact information for Ed's whereabouts (T. at 95). A few times Ed had been briefly unavailable, but always had contact through Frank or his mother-in-law, Velma Webb ("Momma"). Further, Gaye Lynn never asked him for Ed's contact information (T. at 96). Frank testified that Ed was never invited to accompany him and his wife on their trips to Canada because of the restrictions Gaye Lynn placed on Ed. When questioned as to whether he or his wife had ever been threatened with jail by Gaye Lynn if they went to Canada, Frank answered "No." When asked if he would have gone if they had been threatened, he said the last place he wanted to go is a Canadian jail (T. at 100).

Jean Inman is Ed's mother. Until the separation, she and Frank spent a lot of time with Margaret Anne, who was a delightful child. After the separation, the visitation was restricted and they

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