IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

EDWARD E. SHELNUT

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-02157

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES

APPELLEE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF TO COURT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

JAMES JASON BAYLES
ATTORNEY FOR THE APPELLEE
MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES
POST OFFICE BOX 11677
JACKSON, MS 39283
MBN:

TELEPHONE: 601 432 1200

FAX 601 432 1201

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

EDWARD SHELNUT

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2007-CA-02157

DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Ed's due process rights were not denied to such an extent in the various proceedings in Canada that those denials would provide him a defense against a registration and attempt to enforce a foreign judgment in this state, and the Court did not err in finding that Canada had personal jurisdiction over Ed. Ed's testimony and a letter from Ed's attorney to Ed showed that Ed was aware of the divorce proceeding. The jurisdictional issue was discussed in *Department of Human Services v. Shelnut*, 772 So.2d 1041, and this Court rejected Ed's argument that the Canadian judgment should not be enforced due to lack of jurisdiction.

The trial court properly ruled that the amended notice of registration of foreign support order related back to the original notice filed in 1999. The trial court registered the Canadian judgment on July 8, 1999. The enforcement proceeding based upon that order was later dismissed and subsequently reinstated. The Judgment issued by the trial court was based upon the order registered in 1999 since it was still active.

The statute of limitations had not run, and the foreign judgment was properly confirmed by the trial court. The child in this action, Margaret Anne, was not quite 13 years old when the Chancery Court of Hinds County registered the Canadian decree in this cause. Applying Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-45 in conjunction with the savings clause under Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-59, the three year statute of limitations on foreign judgments would not run against a Mississippi resident until three years after the child emancipates. If you apply this section to the present action the statute clearly had not run by the time this action was filed in the Chancery Court of Hinds County due to the fact that the child in this action had not quite reached the age of 13 when the case was registered.

In the present action the child did not need to be made a party due to the fact that the child had not emancipated when the case was registered. In *Brown v. Brown*, 822 So.2d 1119 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) the youngest child had emancipated, but the statute of limitations had not run. The Court went on to state that the daughter should be made a party for these purposes, or affirmatively waive participation. *Brown* at 1123. In the present case the child was only 13 years of age when the Canadian decree was registered, so there was not a need for the child to be joined as a party when the attempts were made to enforce the decree.

The Chancellor did not err when the age of emancipation was determined to be 18 as opposed to 16 years of age. According to Miss. Code Ann. § 93-25-87 the law of the issuing state governs the nature, extent, amount and duration of current payments under a registered support order. Therefore Mississippi has to abide by Canada's laws regarding the emancipation age of the child in this action. The version of the Canadian Divorce Act used by the appellant states under (b) of the "child of the marriage" section that the child could still be considered under the parent's charge beyond the age of 16 for "other cause." The Chancellor made a determination that the child emancipated at the age of 18 in 2004. The Chancellor did not err in this determination due to the fact that "other cause" under section (b) quoted above could reasonably be determined to be a situation where the child is still in school and living with the custodial parent. If the child support order is under the federal law, The Divorce Act, the obligation to pay support may also continue beyond the child's eighteenth birthday in Saskatchewan if that person:

a. remains under the parent's charge; and

b. is unable, by reason of illness, disability or other cause, to withdraw from their charge or to obtain the necessaries of life.

In either situation, provided adequate proof of the ongoing dependency is

provided to the office, the Office will continue to collect the child support.

(www.justice.gov.sk.ca/MEO-FAQ)

Gaye-Lynn testified that she is still in contact with her local maintenance office. [Transcript 15, lines 3-5] Therefore, Margaret-Anne should have emancipated no earlier than the age of 18.

Gaye-Lynn's conduct did not rise to a level that would waive any right she had to obtain child support under a valid judgment. Gaye-Lynn has been accused of threatening Ed with jail if he attempted to visit Margaret-Anne. Gaye-Lynn testified when asked if she had a conversation with Ed in which she told him if he came to Canada she would have him jailed that she told him in Canada if a person does not pay child support that person risks being thrown in jail. [Transcript 67, lines 27-29] [Transcript 68, lines 1-8] In *Cole v. Hood*, 371 So.2d 861 (Miss. 1979) Mrs. Cole hid the children for eight years and kept her address secret from Mr. Hood so that he could not see the children or effectively make child support payments. The Court held that due to the actions of Mrs. Cole it was inequitable for Mr. Hood to have to pay support for that time period. *Cole* at 864. The Cole case can be distinguished from our present case due to the fact that Ed knew where the child was, sent numerous cards and letters over the years, never made an attempt to see the child and never sent any payments for the support of the child. Therefore, Gaye-Lynn by her actions and the evidence presented did not waive any right she had to obtain child support under the Canadian decree.

The trial court did not act improperly when questioning Ed or through any comments made by the trial court during the proceeding.

The Appellee did not find the actions of the trial court to be improper. The appellant was given ample opportunity and adequate time to properly make a case before the Court.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The findings of fact of the chancery court, particularly in the areas of divorce and child support, will generally not be overturned by this Court on appeal unless they are manifestly wrong. *Nichols v. Tedder*, 547 So.2d 766, 781 (Miss. 1989). Findings of the chancellor will not be disturbed or set aside on appeal unless the decision is manifestly wrong and not supported by substantial credible evidence, or unless the wrong legal standard was applied. *In re Guardianship of Savell*, 876 So.2d 308, 312 (Miss.2004); *Tinnin v. First United Bank of Miss.*, 570 So.2d 1193, 1194 (Miss.1990); *Bell v. Parker*, 563 So.594, 596-97 (Miss.1990).

- A. Ed's due process rights were not denied to such an extent in the various
 proceedings in Canada that those denials would provide him a defense against a
 registration and attempt to enforce a foreign judgment in this state.
 - B. The Court did not err in finding that Canada had personal jurisdiction over Ed.

The jurisdictional issue was discussed at length during the previous appeal of this case to the Mississippi Supreme Court. At that time Ed was attempting to collaterally attack the Canadian judgment and the Court stated in *Shelnut* that

There is no requirement that for res judicata to bar this collateral attack, the Canadian Court must list the evidence upon which it found jurisdiction over Shelnut or that the Canadian court hold a full evidentiary hearing on the issue. Shelnut submitted himself to the jurisdiction of the Canadian court for the purposes of contesting jurisdiction. The Canadian court, of necessity, ruled against him on the issue. Shelnut made no attempt to appeal the judgment of the Canadian court, waiting instead ten years for Kern to attempt to enforce the support decree in Mississippi before collaterally attacking the judgment. Shelnut testified at the hearing before the chancery court that he did not appeal the Canadian judgment because his lawyer advised him that it would cost more money and Shelnut would almost assuredly be ruled against. Shelnut's assertion that the

Canadian judgment should not be enforced for want of jurisdiction is rejected.

Shelnut at 1047.

The Appellant argues that there were two cause numbers in the Canadian action, and Ed failed to get notice of the divorce action. The Court in the first appeal was aware that there was an interim action in addition to the final Canadian decree of divorce. In the first appeal the issue about problems with notice were not addressed, and as the above selection from the first appeal mentions, the decree was not appealed in Canada.

Through Ed's own testimony and the appellant's exhibit 13 from the September 27, 2007 hearing it can be shown that Ed received notice of the proceedings in Canada. In exhibit 13 Reeves Jones, Ed's attorney at the time of the first Hinds County Chancery proceeding, wrote to Ed and stated

"Judge Robinson then asked who was actually served first on the two separate complaints for divorce – the Hinds County and the Canadian– and the record reflected that you were personally served with her complaint for divorce before she was personally served with your complaint for divorce." [Exhibit 13]

Exhibit 18 from the September 27, 2007 hearing contains the appellee's record excerpts from the first appeal in this case to the Mississippi Supreme Court. In Exhibit 12 of that record on page 33 of the excerpted transcript there is the dialogue of the direct examination of Edward Shelnut. The transcript reads:

Q. (By the attorney for Edward Shelnut)

Okay. Now we've all been over the fact of the separation. You filed a complaint for custody. That was subsequently followed by a complaint for divorce. Gaye-Lynn filed a complaint for divorce in Canada. You were personally served were you not?

A. (Answer by Edward Shelnut) Yes.

[Exhibit 18 citing Exhibit 12 page 33]

Both examples from the appellant's record excerpts show that Ed knew of the divorce proceedings. Therefore, this Court should find that Ed was properly noticed, and he should not be allowed to relitigate the issue of notice or jurisdiction in this appeal.

2. The trial court did not err in its ruling that the amended notice of registration of foreign support order related back to the original notice filed in 1999.

A child support order or an income-withholding order issued by the tribunal of another state (issuing state) may be registered in this state for enforcement. Miss. Code Ann. § 93-25-81 A support order issued in another state is registered when the order is filed in the registering tribunal of this state, and it is enforceable as an order issued in a tribunal of this state. Miss. Code Ann. § 93-25-85 The Chancery court order in this cause dated July 8, 1999 states "that the Canadian divorce decree sought to be registered in cause no. U99-1 be, and same hereby is registered in the chancery court of the second judicial district of Hinds County, Mississippi."

Registration of the order does not require commencement of litigation; however, a petition or pleading for modification may be filed at the same time as the registration or after registration.

Grumme v. Grumme, 871 So.2d 1288, 1290 citing Miss. Code Ann. 93-25-97

On August 10, 1999 the Chancery court dismissed the attempt to enforce the foreign judgment. On December 14, 2000 the Supreme Court of Mississippi reversed the August 10, 1999 order and remanded it for further proceedings, finding that Canada had personal jurisdiction over Ed to grant a divorce. In 2003 the remand hearing was dismissed in chancery due to a lack of prosecution. In 2005 the action to confirm the registration of the Canadian order was reinstated after being dismissed, and the amended notice was filed to give Edward Shelnut notice that the

proceeding had once again been put on the docket. The Chancery court would not allow the case to go forward unless some type of notice was filed stating that the case was moving forward. Since the order was registered in 1999, and this was a continuation of the same action, this amended notice should not be seen as a new registration. The Canadian order was registered by the Chancery Court of Hinds County in 1999, and when the amended notice was filed the case was still active and the registration was valid under the statute.

3. The three year statute of limitation in Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-45 when read in conjunction with Miss. Code Ann §15-1-59 and applied to this case allows for the order to be properly confirmed by the trial court.

The child in this action, Margaret Anne, was not quite 13 years old when the Chancery Court of Hinds County registered the Canadian decree in this cause. According to Mississippi Code Ann. §15-1-45:

All actions founded on any judgment or decree rendered by any court of record without this state shall be brought within seven years after the rendition of such judgment or decree, and not after. However, if the person against whom such judgment or decree was or shall be rendered, was, or shall be at the time of the institution of the action, a resident of this state, such action, founded on such judgment or decree, shall be commenced within three years next after the rendition thereof, and not after.

The appellant is arguing that since the order was registered nine years after the Canadian decree was entered, the statute of limitations has run on this case, and the order cannot be enforced.

In *Strack v. Sticklin*, 959 So.2d 1, 7 (MS 2006) this Court cites *Wilson v. Wilson*, 464 So.2d 496, 498 (Miss.1985) stating that the Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-59 (Rev.2003) savings clause applies in child support cases. Section 15-1-59 reads:

If any person entitled to bring any of the personal actions mentioned shall, at the time at which the cause of action accrued, be under the disability of infancy or unsoundness of

mind, he may bring the actions within the times in this chapter respectively limited, after his disability shall be removed as provided by law. However, the saving in favor of persons under disability of unsoundness of mind shall never extend longer than twenty-one (21) years.

If you apply this section to the present action the statute clearly had not run by the time this action was filed in the Chancery Court of Hinds County due to the fact that the child in this action had not quite reached the age of 13 when the case was registered.

4. In the present action the child did not need to be made a party due to the fact that the child had not emancipated when the case was registered.

In *Brown* this Court held that the "mother's claim for support was derivative; mother required to submit daughter's agreement to divide arrearage or prove amount actually expended to compensate for father's failure to provide support." *Brown* at 1122. In the Brown case the youngest child had emancipated, but the statute of limitations had not run, and the Court went on to state that the daughter should be made a party for these purposes, or affirmatively waive participation. *Brown* at 1123. In the present case the child was only 13 years of age when the Canadian decree was registered, so there was not a need for the child to be joined as a party when the attempts were made to enforce the decree.

 The Chancellor did not err when the age of emancipation was determined to be 18 as opposed to 16 years of age.

According to Miss. Code Ann. § 93-25-87 the law of the issuing state governs the nature, extent, amount and duration of current payments under a registered support order. Therefore

Mississippi has to abide by Canada's laws regarding the emancipation age of the child in this action. The version of the *Canadian Divorce Act* used by the appellant states that:

"Child of the marriage" means a child of two spouses or former spouses who, at the material time, (a) is under the age of sixteen years, or

(b) is sixteen years of age or over and under their charge but unable, by reason of illness, disability or other cause, to withdraw from their charge or to obtain the necessaries of life; (Exhibit 18 appellant's record excepts)

The child in this case, Margaret Anne, was still in college and 21 years of age at the time of the September 27, 2007 hearing. [Transcript 54, lines 13-14] She began university in the fall of 2003 and is under the care of Gaye-Lynn and is working part time to help with expenses. The Chancellor made a determination that the child emancipated at the age of 18 in 2004. The Chancellor did not err in this determination due to the fact that "other cause" under section (b) quoted above could reasonably be determined to be a situation where the child is still in school and living with the custodial parent. Opposing counsel argues Mississippi law in this instance, but the law as applied in this instance is the Canadian law listed above.

Margaret Anne and Gaye-Lynn reside in Saskatchewan and according to the government of Saskatchewan website:

If the child support order is under the federal law, The Divorce Act, the obligation to pay support may also continue beyond the child's eighteenth birthday in Saskatchewan if that person: a. remains under the parent's charge; and

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